IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EARL L. NEWSOME, :
 :
 Petitioner, :
 :
 vs. : Case No. SC00-633
 :
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 :
 Respondent. :
 :
 _____ :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT D. ROSEN
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0826065

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33831
(941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 7, 1999, a jury found the petitioner, Earl L. Newsome, guilty of burglary with assault or burglary with a deadly weapon, and the lesser-included offenses of robbery and assault.

The state previously sought to have Mr. Newsome sentenced as a habitual offender and a prison releasee reoffender (PRR). The trial court found Mr. Newsome to be both a habitual offender and a prison releasee reoffender, and sentenced him to a life sentence on the burglary conviction, which was a first-degree felony punishable by life, to a concurrent term of 30 years for the robbery conviction, and to time served on the assault conviction.

Mr. Newsome filed a timely notice of appeal on April 14, 1999. On March 8, 2000, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Newsome's sentence. See Newsome v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D619 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). Citing to Grant v. State, 745 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), and to Jones v. State, 750 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), the Second District ruled: (1) the PRR statute was constitutional; and (2) that it was not a double jeopardy violation to sentence a defendant under both the habitual offender statute and the PRR statute. The court acknowledged conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the second issue citing to Melton v. State, 746 So. 2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Adams v. State, 750 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Glave v. State, 745 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

Mr. Newsome filed a Notice of Discretionary Jurisdiction in the Second District Court of Appeal on March 15, 2000. On March

28, 2000, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction, and ordered the Petitioner to file an initial brief on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was improperly sentenced as a Prison Releasee Reoffender where that statute violates the state single subject provisions, violates state separation of powers provisions, violates state and federal cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions, is void for vagueness under both state and federal constitutions, violates state and federal due process clauses, violates state and federal equal protection clauses, and violates state and federal ex post facto provisions.

The Petitioner was improperly sentenced as both a prison releasee reoffender and as a habitual felony offender where the Florida Statutes do not expressly provide for such punishment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, is unconstitutional on the following grounds: (1) it violates the single subject provisions of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution; (2) it violates the separation of powers under Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution; (3) it violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions of the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Section 17, of the Florida Constitution; (4) it is void for vagueness under both the state and federal constitutions; (5) it violates the due process clauses of both the state and federal constitutions; (6) it violates the equal protection clauses of both the state and federal constitutions; and (7) it violates ex post facto provisions of the state and federal constitutions.

1) Single Subject Requirement

Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, created the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act, which became law on May 30, 1997. A portion of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act relating to the punishment of reoffenders was placed in section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997). Another portion of the Act, which was placed in section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997), requires DOC to notify inmates of the sentencing provisions of the Act if it is

violated within three years of release. None of the other subjects in the Act is reasonably connected or related to the subject of Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment. These subjects include whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department, when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance abuser, and expansion of the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for violation. See §§ 948.01, 948.06, & 958.14, Fla. Stat. (1997).

Article III, section 6, of the Florida Constitution provides, "Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title." This provision serves three purposes:

(1) to prevent hodge podge or "log rolling" legislation, i.e., putting two unrelated matters in one act; (2) to prevent surprise or fraud by means of provisions in bills of which the titles gave no intimation, and which might therefore be overlooked and carelessly and unintentionally adopted; and (3) to fairly apprise the people of the subjects of legislation that are being considered, in order that they may have opportunity of being heard thereon.

State v. Canova, 94 So. 2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1957).

Thompson v. State, 708 So. 2d 315, 316 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

The title and preamble of Ch. 97-239, Laws of Florida refer to prison releasee reoffender punishment, but several sections of Ch. 97-239 address whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department, when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance

abuser, and expansion of the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for violation. Those sections are linked only in the most general category of criminal law, but such a broad linkage is not sufficient where the subjects of various sections are separate, disassociated, and have no cogent relationship. See State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1993) (single subject rule violated by act addressing the separate and distinct subjects of habitual felony offender sentencing and the licensing of private investigators and their authority to repossess personal property; "No reasonable explanation exists as to why the legislature chose to join these two subjects within the same legislative act, and we find that we must reject the State's contention that these two subjects relate to the single subject of controlling crime."); Bunnell v. State, 453 So. 2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1994) (act relating to the Florida Council on Criminal Justice violated the single subject rule where section 1 which dealt with "obstruction by false name" had "no cogent relationship", and was "separate and disassociated from" the purpose of sections 2 and 3, the Florida Council on Criminal Justice); Thompson, 708 So. 2d at 317 (Chapter 95-182, the violent career criminal sentencing act, unconstitutionally violated the single subject rule because it combined the creation of the career criminal sentencing scheme with civil remedies for victims of domestic violence which had no "natural or logical connection" to each other). Compare Burch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1990) (the Crime Prevention and Control Act which had a lengthy preamble

addressing the need to fight rising crime rate properly dealt with comprehensive criminal regulations and procedures, money laundering, and safe neighborhoods where "all of its parts are directed toward meeting the crisis of increased crime").

The Act entitled "the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act" deals with unrelated subjects in violation of Article III, Section 6. Therefore, the Act violates the single subject rule.

2) Separation of Powers

Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution states that:

The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997) violates Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution in several separate and distinct ways. It restricts the ability of the parties to plea bargain in providing only limited reasons for the state's departure from a maximum sentence. Under Florida's constitution, "the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute." State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986). The Act unlawfully restricts the exercise of executive discretion that is solely the function of the state attorney in determining whether and how to prosecute.

The victim is permitted to make the ultimate decision regarding the particular sentencing scheme under which a defendant will be sentenced. This occurs even if the trial judge believes

that the defendant should receive the mandatory punishment, or should not receive the mandatory maximum penalty. This is an unconstitutional delegation of authority.

Unless certain circumstances set out in the Act are met, the sentencing judge has no discretion to do anything other than sentence under the mandatory provisions. Those circumstances, which include insufficient evidence, unavailability of witnesses, the statement of the victim, and an apparent catch-all dealing with other extenuating circumstances, are outside the purview of the trial judge. In contrast, the habitual felony offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1997), vests the trial judge with discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. Although sentencing is clearly a judicial function, the legislature has vested this authority in the executive branch by authorizing the state attorney to determine who should and who should not be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. The separation of powers principles establish that, although the state attorney may suggest the classification and sentence, only the judiciary should decide whether to make the classification and impose the mandatory sentence. London v. State, 623 So. 2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Lacking the provisions of the violent career criminal statute and the habitual offender statute that vest sole discretion as to classification and imposition of a sentence in the sentencing court, the Act violates the separation of powers doctrine.

In State v. Cotton, 728 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), the Second District held the Act does not totally eliminate judicial

fact-finding and sentencing discretion. Mr. Newsome believes the small amount of discretion left to the trial court pursuant to Cotton does not save the Act from violating the separation of powers. He requests that this Court find rule that the Act violates the separation of powers (which was not implicated in Cotton).

3) Cruel and Unusual Punishment

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution forbid the imposition of a sentence that is cruel and/or unusual. These prohibitions act against barbaric punishments and sentences which are disproportionate to the crime committed. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983).

Under the Act, the trial court has no sentencing discretion, cannot consider mitigating factors that may warrant a less severe punishment, and must impose the proscribed minimum mandatory penalties. Sentencing under the Act, therefore, will result in penalties which are totally disproportionate to the crimes for which a defendant is convicted, a miscarriage of justice, as well as a waste of the State's incarcerative resources.

The Act disproportionately punishes a new offense based on one's status of having been to prison previously without regard to the nature of the prior offense or whether one was released due to a reversal of one's conviction. A person who commits an enumerated felony one day after release from a county jail sentence for aggravated battery is not subject to the enhanced sentence of the

Act, but a person who commits the same offense and who had been released from prison within three years after serving a thirteen month sentence for a nonviolent offense such as possession of cannabis, welfare fraud, or issuing a worthless check must be sentenced to the maximum sentence as a prison releasee reoffender. The Act disproportionately applies only to persons released from State prisons, while not applying to persons released from federal prisons or those of other states. The Act also disproportionately punishes a person who commits an enumerated offense exactly three years after release from prison, while it is inapplicable to a person with the same record who commits the same offense three years and one day after release. A law which uses a prior record to enhance punishment far beyond what is proportionate for the crime committed violates the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983).

The Act also violates the cruel and unusual punishment clauses by the legislative empowering of victims to determine sentences. The Act permits the victim to mandate the imposition of the penalty by the simple act of refusing to put a statement in writing that he or she does not desire the imposition of the penalty. The victim can therefore affirmatively determine the sentencing outcome or can determine the sentence by simply failing to act. The State Attorney could determine the sentence by failing to contact a victim or failing to advise the victim of the right to request less than the mandatory sentence. If a victim became unavailable subsequent to a plea or trial, the defendant would be subject to

the maximum sentence despite the victim's wishes if those wishes had not previously been reduced to writing.

Mr. Newsome requests that this Court find the Act unconstitutionally allows for the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment.

4) Vagueness

When a statute fails to give adequate notice to prohibited conduct, inviting arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement, the statute is void for vagueness. See Wyche v. State, 619 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1993). The Act requires that a prison releasee reoffender sentence shall be imposed unless: the state attorney has insufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available; the testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained; the victim provides a written statement indicating he or she does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence; or other extenuating circumstances preclude just prosecution of the offender.

The Act fails to define the terms "sufficient evidence", "material witness", the degree of materiality required, "extenuating circumstances", and "just prosecution". The failure to define these terms renders the Act unconstitutionally vague because it gives no guidance as to the meaning of these terms or their applicability to a case. It is impossible for a person of ordinary intelligence to read the statute and understand how the legislature intended these terms to apply to a defendant. The Act

is unconstitutional since it invites and apparently requires arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Mr. Newsome urges this Court to hold that the Act is unconstitutionally vague.

5) Due Process

Substantive due process is a restriction upon the manner in which a penal code can be enforced. See Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165 (1952). The test is, "...whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary or oppressive." Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Company, 296 So. 2d 9, 15 (Fla. 1974).

The Act violates state and federal guarantees of due process in many ways. It invites discriminatory and arbitrary application by the state attorney who, in the absence of judicial discretion, has the sole authority to determine the application of the Act to any defendant. In the absence of statutory guidance, the state attorney has sole power to define and arbitrarily apply the exclusionary terms of "sufficient evidence", "material witness", "extenuating circumstances", and "just prosecution." Arbitrariness, discrimination, oppression, and lack of fairness are invited by providing for the victim to determine the sentence. The Act arbitrarily declares a defendant to be subject to the maximum penalty provided by law based on prior state imprisonment within the three prior years of an offense while not applying to defendants who commit a new offense three years and one day after release from a Florida prison and defendants who were previously

sentenced to jail, probation, or imprisonment in another state or a federal prison. The Act does not bear a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective. In Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, the legislature states its purpose was to draft legislation enhancing the penalties for previous violent felony offenders who reoffend and continue to prey on society, but despite this legislative goal the actual operation of the statute is to apply to any offender who has served a prison sentence for any offense and who commits and enumerated offense within three years of release. Even persons whose prior convictions and sentences were vacated on appeal may be found to come within the Act based on their date of release from prison. Legislation which punishes innocent conduct is overbroad. Delmonico v. State, 155 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 1963); Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969). A statute which is so broad that it punishes the innocent as well as the guilty is void in violation of due process. Mr. Newsome urges this Court to hold that the Act violates due process.

6) Equal Protection

The standard by which a statutory classification is examined to determine whether a classification satisfies the equal protection clause is whether the classification is based upon some difference bearing a reasonable relation to the object of the legislation. See Soverino v. State, 356 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1978). As discussed above, despite the Act's intent to provide for the imposition of enhanced sentences upon violent felony offenders who have been released early from prison and then who reoffend by

committing a new violent offense, the Act applies to offenders whose prior history includes no violent offenses whatsoever and even applies to persons whose prior convictions and sentences were vacated on appeal. The Act draws no rational distinction between offenders who commit prior violent acts and serve county jail or probationary sentences, and those who commit the same acts and yet serve short prison sentences. The Act draws no rational distinction between imposing an enhanced sentence upon a defendant who commits a new offense on the third anniversary of release from prison, and the imposition of a guidelines sentence upon a defendant who commits a similar offense three years and a day after release. The Act is not rationally related to the goal of imposing enhanced punishment upon violent offenders who commit a new violent offense after release.

The Petitioner urges this Court to find that the Act violates the equal protection clause.

7) Ex Post Facto

Under Article I, Section 10, of the Florida Constitution, the legislature may not pass any retroactive laws. Mr. Newsome's prior prison sentence was completed on April 2, 1997, prior to the effective date of the Act, May 30, 1997. The only way to save the statute from ex post facto application is to hold that it is prospective only to those inmates released after its effective date. Mr. Newsome urges this Court to find that the Act may not be applied to him where the sentence for his prior offense expired before the effective date of the Act.

Wherefore, Mr. Newsome requests that this Honorable Court declare Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997) to be unconstitutional and/or inapplicable to him for the reasons set forth above, and to reverse his case and remand for resentencing.

While Mr. Newsome did not object to the imposition of the PRR statute at the time of sentencing, such an objection is not required to preserve the issue for appeal. In Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1983), this Court held if a constitutional infirmity arises from the face of particular legislation, and is not dependent on the facts of a particular case, the constitutional issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. It is also true that a sentencing error that causes a person to be incarcerated for longer than the law allows is a fundamental error that can be raised for the first time on appeal. See Gonzalez v. State, 392 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). Thus, the constitutionality of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act may be addressed.

ISSUE II

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