## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EARL L. NEWSOME,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC00-633

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

ANNE SHEER WEINER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0015199 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

Appellant's reliance on <u>London v. State</u>, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). In <u>London</u>, the Court in dicta stated:

"[because the trial court retains discretion in classifying and sentencing a defendant as a habitual offender, the separation of powers doctrine is not violated. Although the state attorney may suggest a defendant be classified as an habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether or not to classify and sentence the defendant as an habitual offender." London, 623 So.2d at 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The statements in London are merely dicta and they are contrary to controlling precedent from this Court which have consistently recognized that the constitutional authority to prescribe penalties for crimes is in the legislature. Lightbourne, *supra*.

3) Cruel and Unusual Punishment

The Act does not violate the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. This argument has also been rejected by this court in <u>Grant</u>, *supra* at 521.

A plurality of the Supreme Court has rejected the notion that the Eighth Amendment's protection from cruel and unusual punishment extends to the type of offense for which a sentence is imposed; rather, it protects against cruel and unusual modes of punishment. <u>See</u>, <u>Harmelin v. Michigan</u>, 501 U.S. 957, 965-66, 979-85, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 2686-87, 2693-96, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991); and <u>U.S. v. Quinn</u>, 123 F.3d 1415, 1425 (11th Cir. 1997). *Compare*, <u>Smallwood v. Johnson</u>, 73 F.3d 1343 (5th Cir. 1996)(Defendant's sentence of 50 years imprisonment for misdemeanor theft, enhanced under Texas' habitual offender statute, did not constitute cruel

and unusual punishment); and <u>Rummell v. Estelle</u>, 445 U.S. 263, 100 S. Ct. 1133 (1980)(Defendant's sentence of life imprisonment did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment for conviction of obtaining \$121 by false pretenses where sentence enhanced by recidivist statute). Therefore, petitioner has not demonstrated that his enhanced punishment and sentencing is violative of the Eighth Amendment's proscription against cruel and unusual punishment.

Petitioner's argument that the Act fails to consider the factors of the prior conviction is irrelevant. As this Court as early as 1928 in <u>Cross v. State</u>, 199 So. 380, 3885-386 (Fla. 1928) cruel and unusual punishment is not inflicted upon one convicted of a felony in this state by the imposition of the enhanced sentences prescribed for habitual offenders which provided that upon a second or subsequent conviction for a felony greater punishment than for the first conviction shall be imposed. Petitioner's's argument is more akin to an equal protection or substantive due process argument. As this Court stated in <u>In Re</u> <u>Greenburg</u>, 390 So.2d 40, 42 (Fla. 1980):

The rational basis or minimum scrutiny test generally employed in equal protection analysis requires only that a statute bear some reasonable relationship to a legitimate That the statute may result state purpose. incidently in some inequality or that it was not drawn with mathematical precision will not result in invalidity. Rather, the statutory classification to be held unconstitutionally violative of equal protection under this test must cause

different treatments so disparate as relates to difference in classification so as to be wholly arbitrary. (citations omitted)

Again in <u>State v. Leicht</u>, 402 So.2d 1153, 154-155 (Fla. 1981):

The legislature has wide discretion in creating statutory classifications, and there is a presumption in favor of validity. (Citations omitted). Where equal protection has been violated depends on whether a classification is reasonably expedient for the protection of the public safety, welfare, health, or morals. (citation omitted). а classification based upon a real difference which is reasonably related to the subject purpose of the regulation will be upheld even another classification if or no classification might appear more reasonable. (citation omitted).

In King v. State, 557 So.2d 899, 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) rev.

denied 564 So.2d 1086:

Under substantive due process, the test is whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to permissible legislative objective not discriminatory, and is arbitrary, capricious or oppressive. (Citation omitted). Courts will not be concerned with whether the particular legislation in question is the most prudent choice, or is a perfect panacea, to cure the ills or achieve the interest intended; if there is a legitimate state interest which the legislation aims to effect, and if the legislation is а reasonably related means to achieve that intended end, it will be upheld. (citation omitted)

The aim of the Act is to deter prison releasees from committing a felony by requiring that any releasee who commits a new serious felony be sentenced the maximum term of incarceration provided by law and that he/she serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence. Clearly the Act has a legitimate state purpose. Petitioner argues that the Act arbitrarily discriminates between those who reoffend within 3 years after their release from prison and those who reoffend more than 3 years after their release from prison. This argument is without merit. Obviously, the legislature has the right to set time limitations. The fact that one defendant falls within the time limitation by one day and the other does not by one day is a reality of *life. Cf. Acton v.* Fort Lauderdale Hospital, 440 So.2d 1282, 1284 (Fla.1983 ):

> [S]ince no suspect classification is involved here, the statute need only bear a reasonable relationship to a legitimate state interest. Some inequity or imprecision will not render a statute invalid (Citation omitted).

LeBlanc v. State, 382 So.2d 299, 300 (Fla. 1980):

[I]t is not the requirement of equal protection that every statutory classification be all inclusive. (citations Rather, the statute must merely omitted). apply equally to member of the statutory class and bear a reasonable relationship to some legitimate state interest. (Citations omitted)

As stated previously, the Act does not vest the victim with the power to determine whether the mandatory sentences under the Act shall be imposed and, therefore, appellant's cruel and unusual punishment argument based upon this theory of victim empowerment is without merit.

Petitioner argues that the Act constitutes cruel and unusual punishment because it only punishes those who commit enumerated

felonies within three years after their release from the Florida state prison system but it does not apply to inmates who are released from federal prison, local jails or other state prisons. This argument has been rejected - in the context of not applying to federal convicts - in reference to an early habitual offender statute which applied only to state prisons in <u>King v. State</u>, *supra at 557:* 

> As to equal protection, King claims that section 775.084 creates inequitable classes because it only applies to those whose prior were committed in the State of Florida (under-inclusive). In *Bell v. State*, 369 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1979), the supreme court addressed an equal protection argument challenge to a criminal statute:

In order to constitute a denial of equal protection, the selective enforcement must be deliberately based on an unjustifiable or arbitrary classification. (Citation omitted). The mere failure to prosecute all offenders is no ground for a claim of denial of equal protection. (Citation omitted)

Id. at 934....Section 775.084 rationally advances a legitimate governmental objective. The classification created has some reasonable basis and thus does not offend the constitution simply because it may result in some inequity. Equal protection does not require the state to choose between attacking every aspect of a problem or not attacking it at all.

The reasoning is equally applicable in the instant case.

4) Vagueness

The crux of the petitioner's "vagueness" attack lies in

argument that the statute falls for failing of its exceptions (s. 775.082((d)a.-d.) To define "sufficient evidence", "material witness", "extenuating circumstances" and "just prosecution".

As to sufficient evidence, this may plainly read as proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Material has been defined as "important; more or less necessary; having influence and effect; going to the merits; having to do with the matter, as distinguished from the form." <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, 4th Ed. West Publishing Co. 1968. "Witness" has been defined as "A person whose declaration under oath (or affirmation) is received as evidence for any purpose, WHETHER such declaration be made of oral examination or by deposition or affidavit." Id. Black's Law dictionary similarly defines "just" and "extenuating circumstances". As was stated by the Second District Court of Appeals in State v. De La Llana, 693 So.2d 1075, 1078 (Fla. 2d DCA):

> [I]t is а well settled principle of constitutional jurisprudence that. "[t]he legislature's failure to define a statutory term does not in and of itself render a penal statute unconstitutionally vague." State v. Hogan, 387 So.2d 943, 945 (Fla. 1980). In the absence of such a definition, a court may resort to a dictionary to ascertain the plain and ordinary meaning which the legislature intended TO describe to the term, see Gardner v. Johnson, 451 So.2d 477, 478 (Fla. 1984), as well as case law which has construed the term in the context of another statute. See Tingley v. Brown, 380 So.2d 1289, 1290 (Fla. 1980).

Furthermore, petitioner has failed to show that the

exceptions at provided for in s. 775.082(8)(d)1.a-d are being arbitrarily or capriciously enforced. The fact that the state attorney has discretion to determine who the exceptions or the Act itself shall apply to is not reason to invalidate the Act. This argument has been made and rejected in the past couched in terms of an equal protection argument. As The First District noted in <u>Woods</u>, *supra* at D 834, a similar claim was rejected in reference to the habitual offender statute in <u>Barber v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 1169, 1170-1171 (Fla. 1st DCA) *review denied*, 576 So.2d 284:

> Barber claims that the statute violates the equal protection clause because nothing in the law prevents two defendants with similar or identical criminal records from being treated differently - one may be classified as a habitual felony offender, while the other might instead be sentenced under the guidelines...

The United States Supreme Court, however, has held on numerous occasions that the guarantee of equal protection is not violated when prosecutors are given the discretion by law to "habitualize" only some of those criminals who are eligible, even though their discretion is not bound by the statute...Mere selective, discretionary application of a statute is permissible; only a contention that persons within the habitual-offender class are being selected according to some unjustified standard such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification, would raise a potentially viable challenge...

Similarly, the executive branch is properly given the

discretion to choose which available punishments TO apply TO convicted offenders. <u>Id.</u>

5) Due Process

Petitioner's's argument that the Act violates due process by (1) inviting discriminatory application by the state attorney who has the total authority to determine the application of the Act to any defendant, (2) lacking guidelines defining terms which may be used to justify exceptions to the mandatory sentencing, (3)giving the victim the power to determine to decide whether the Act will or will not apply to a particular defendant, and (4) arbitrarily declaring a defendant to be subject to the mandatory sentences based on prior state imprisonment within 3 years while not applying to defendant's whose new offenses occur 3 years and a day after release, and not applying to defendants who were sentenced to jail rather than prison or probation, by not applying to those released from out of state of federal prisons, have been addressed under previous subheadings in this brief. Furthermore, these arguments have been rejected in <u>Grant</u>, supra at 522, and , as noted in that opinion, it has also been rejected by First District in <u>Turner</u>, supra at D2075 and the Third District in <u>McKnight</u>, supra at 319.

Petitioner argues that the Act fails to accomplish its legislative purpose which was to reverse the early release of violent felony offenders and to protect the public from violent

felony offenders who prey upon the public, by applying Act to nonviolent felony releasees. Petitioner is obviously referring to the first two whereas clauses of the enabling statute Ch. 97-239, at 4398, Laws of Florida. Appellant's argument is in error for two reasons.

First, the legislative history of the statute (in this instance the enabling statute and its whereas clauses) is irrelevant in the instant case because the wording of the statute is clear and unambiguous. <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, *supra*.(Fla. 1987)(Legislative history of statute is irrelevant where wording of statute is clear and unambiguous); <u>Pardo v. State</u>, *supra*.(It is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that where language of a statute is plain and unambiguous there is no occasion for judicial interpretation); <u>Mancini v. Personalized Air Conditioning & Heating, Inc</u>, *supra*.; and <u>State v. Cohen</u>, *supra*.(When the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for plain meaning).

In this instance the statute on its face clearly makes no distinction between those releasees who have prior convictions for violent felony offenses and those whose prior conviction is only a non-violent felony. The Act specifically states in pertinent part (emphasis added):

775.082(8)(a)1. "Prison release reoffender"

means any defendant who commits or attempts to commit g. Robbery \* within 3 years of being released from а state correctional facility operated by the Corrections Department of or a private vendor.

Secondly, even if this Court were to resort to the legislative history of the statute, it is clear the legislature intended the Act to apply not only to violent felony offenders who reoffend within three years of their release from prison, but also to any prison releasee (regardless of whether the prior conviction was for a violent or a non violent felony) who reoffends within three years. The intent was also reflected in the third whereas clause of the enabling statute which states (emphasis added):

> Whereas, the Legislature finds that the best deterrent to prevent prison releasees from committing future crimes is to require that **any releasee** who commits new serious felonies must be sentenced to the maximum term of incarceration allowed by law, and must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence

6) Equal Protection

Petitioner's's equal protection arguments are identical to his arguments raised earlier and are addressed under previous subheading. Furthermore, these arguments were also rejected by the Second District in court in <u>Grant</u>, *supra* at 522, analyisis of which was relied upon in <u>Medina</u>, *supra* 

7) Overbreadth

Respondent lacks standing to raise this "overbreadth" issue. The first task "is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail." <u>State v. De</u> <u>La Llana</u>, 693 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); <u>See Village of</u> <u>Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc.</u>, 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 1191, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982)(footnote omitted); <u>See also Schall v. Martin</u>, 467 U.S. 253, 269 n. 18, 104 S.Ct. 2403, 2412 n. 18, 81 L.Ed.2d 207 (1984)(outside the limited First Amendment context, a criminal statute may not be attacked as overbroad).

Even if this court were to reach the merits of the appellant's claim, it is clear that the statute in question does apply to him. See <u>United states v. Salerno</u>, 481 U.S. 739,745, 107 S.Ct. 2095, 95 L.Ed.2d 697, 707 (1987)(facial challenge to a legislative act under overbreadth doctrine, outside the limited context of the first amendment, requires a showing that no set of circumstances exist under which the act would be valid). Furthermore his argument that the statute could apply to those who reoffend within three years after their release from prison even though the release was due to their convictions being overturned in other words they are not reoffenders at all because they had no prior conviction to start with - is without merit.

It is clear that the intent of the legislature was to require mandatory maximum imprisonment terms for those who "reoffend" by

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